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          1  BOARD OF EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: The New York City

          3  Board of Education will now testify on its capital

          4  plan.

          5                 Before we begin, we have been meeting

          6  here since early morning with the School

          7  Construction Authority and I think they are going to

          8  remain a little while, but I would like to call on

          9  Speaker Vallone who has an opening statement.

         10                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you, Madame

         11  Chair. Thank you, fellow members of the Committee,

         12  and Councilman Berman, the Chair of the Finance

         13  Committee. And thank you especially, Dr. Crew, for

         14  joining with us today. I know you have had a tough

         15  couple of weeks. You know how I feel about the

         16  dysfunctional system you are working for, but I

         17  think you have rose above that and done an

         18  exceptional job, in spite of the difficulties

         19  involved.

         20                 I know that you agree with me and my

         21  colleagues. It is now time to put our children first

         22  and politics last. I don't think anybody believes we

         23  should really split our children five ways.

         24                 When there were coal-burning

         25  furnaces, as you recall, Chancellor, we didn't ask
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          2  where the furnaces are, we just wanted to replace

          3  them. We didn't ask them what boroughs they are in,

          4  wherever the need is, that is where we want to

          5  direct our resources. Whenever there is a fire in

          6  the City, we go and put out the fire, we don't ask

          7  what borough it is in, we just make sure that we

          8  tend to whatever is happening, whatever the need is.

          9  Our kids need smaller classes, we all agree with

         10  that. They need computers, they need new text books,

         11  they need school buildings, they need to repair

         12  school buildings that are falling down, those are

         13  the ways and those are the things we have to

         14  address.

         15                 It is not about borough politics, it

         16  is not about power plays, it is not the ego of any

         17  individuals, we are all committed to the children.

         18  So, this body, this Council, is committed in looking

         19  forward to working with you to provide our children

         20  with what they deserve, everything that we can

         21  possibly give them, wherever they are located.

         22                 So thank you very much, Doctor, and

         23  the floor is yours.

         24                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Thank you very much,

         25  and good morning to all. I have a series of remarks
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          2  that I would like to make, and as you well know,

          3  customary with all of the other times that we have

          4  been here, my staff, Harry Spence, and Judith Rizzo,

          5  and other members of our staff will be here to

          6  answer questions, as you desire.

          7                 Good morning, Chairman Berman, as he

          8  comes in I guess eventually, Chairwoman Wooten and

          9  Speaker Vallone, I want to thank you for the

         10  opportunity to speak with you about our proposed

         11  capital plan. I am here today to ask for your help

         12  in mobilizing a campaign of investment in the

         13  children of the City of New York. That investment

         14  begins with the fundamental right of every child to

         15  a safe and adequate learning environment that

         16  supports the achievement and supports that

         17  achievement at the most challenging levels.

         18                 In 1993, New York City took a lead in

         19  setting rigorous graduation standards that were

         20  eventually adopted by the State. This year's eighth

         21  graders will be the first high school class required

         22  to take an all Regents curriculum.

         23                 They will need four years of English,

         24  three years of math and three years of science to

         25  graduate. They will have to pass five Regents exams,
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          2  including a Regents exam in lab science. We are

          3  asking that these students take three years of

          4  science, two of those years being laboratory

          5  sciences, without adequate facilities to support

          6  their learning.

          7                 Without significant investment in the

          8  physical infrastructure of the New York City public

          9  schools, we are really setting these children up to

         10  fail.

         11                 We as adults lack credibility when we

         12  tell children that we have high expectations for

         13  their achievement, that literacy, math and science

         14  are paramount, while shunning them into outdated,

         15  overcrowded classrooms, with meager libraries and

         16  decrepid laboratories.

         17                 The environment we place our children

         18  in speaks volumes about what we really expect from

         19  them.

         20                 I was surprised by the recent

         21  concerns expressed about our five-year $11 billion

         22  capital plan. We had months of consultation, lengthy

         23  discussion at all levels of government about this

         24  plan. This plan was initially praised for its

         25  creative, yet realistic, funding strategies.
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          2                 This was a comprehensive plan that

          3  for the first time used an asset management approach

          4  to the maintenance of our school buildings. It was

          5  based on an objective third party building condition

          6  survey. Every superintendent identified the priority

          7  for their district.

          8                 The plan allowed for annual

          9  amendments to reflect the changing needs and

         10  building conditions across all of the boroughs. Most

         11  importantly, the plan was based on a financial

         12  strategy that used diversified sources of funding.

         13  This was not a plan based on ad hoc strategies, this

         14  was an operational funding tethered to our core

         15  strategic goals. It provided a ten-year blueprint

         16  for providing a sound educational environment for

         17  all of our children. And this plan was also about

         18  equity across the City and our capacity to provide

         19  classrooms comparable to those in the suburbs and

         20  upstate.

         21                 While $11 billion is not enough to

         22  provide adequate classrooms in a state of good

         23  repair, it made dramatic progress in closing the gap

         24  between dollars and needs.

         25                 It is the children in our schools who
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          2  face the real building and capacity issues every

          3  single day. It is our students who must cope with

          4  leaking roofs, peeling plaster and overcrowded

          5  classrooms.

          6                 This winter I was stopped by a young

          7  boy in the hall of this school who asked me where

          8  his gym was. Thinking he was lost I misunderstood

          9  the heart of his question. He wanted to know why his

         10  school had no gym. I have called on the Mayor to

         11  help us restore health and physical education to our

         12  schools in much the same way as we restored the

         13  arts.

         14                 This initiative, called Fit For Life,

         15  sets clear standards for health and physical

         16  education. The recent cuts to the capital plan leave

         17  no money for upgrades to athletic fields, gyms,

         18  swimming pools and auditoriums.

         19                 How can I expect this boy to meet

         20  those standards, to acquire the skills and habits he

         21  needs to lead a healthy life without a gym or a safe

         22  place to run and to play?

         23                 You have to ask yourself, how would

         24  you have answered this boy's question?

         25                 The lack of adequate facilities takes
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          2  its greatest toll on instruction. We cannot end

          3  social promotion without early intervention

          4  strategies, such as reducing class size and critical

          5  grades.

          6                 We must also be able to provide

          7  adequate air conditioned space for our most at-risk

          8  students who will be attending mandatory summer

          9  school.

         10                 I have also declared war on our

         11  lowest performing schools. We cannot turn those

         12  schools around without radical changes in their

         13  infrastructure.

         14                 Our success in removing schools from

         15  the state's SURR list was dependent on strategies

         16  such as reduced class size, smaller schools and a

         17  longer day.

         18                 Each of these strategies requires

         19  investment in our facilities.

         20                 At the high school level this past

         21  January we more than tripled the number of students

         22  who took the English Regents. Seventy-two percent

         23  passed as a result of additional support, including

         24  reduced class size, a longer day, Saturday classes

         25  and summer school.
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          2                 Again, facilities are key to

          3  implementing strategies that help our students

          4  succeed.

          5                 Shortages of appropriate space

          6  impairs our ability to reduce early grade class size

          7  and expand early childhood programs. We lack the

          8  resources to perform the electrical upgrades

          9  necessary to link schools to the electronic learning

         10  networks.

         11                 It costs about $200,000 to establish

         12  a single school-based computer center due to the

         13  cost of wiring and asbestos abatement. Libraries are

         14  inadequate and often not computerized. Science labs

         15  are woefully inadequate with broken equipment that

         16  has not kept pace with the advances in molecular and

         17  cellular biology or genetics.

         18                 Overcrowding makes it difficult to

         19  individualize instruction or implement innovative

         20  teaching strategies that are vital to the Board's

         21  effort to raise achievement levels for all children.

         22                 Unfortunately, too many of our

         23  schools are in a state of disrepair because the

         24  historical failure to perform basic preventative

         25  maintenance and make timely capital repairs.
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          2                 We have over 1,100 school buildings

          3  in this City. Many of them represent the highest

          4  quality of public architecture anywhere in the

          5  country. If this were the private sector, those

          6  assets would never have been allowed to deteriorate

          7  to the current state.

          8                 Building components have regular life

          9  expectancies. A roof has a life expectancy of up to

         10  20 years, regardless of the number of times it is

         11  patched. Over 400 of our schools were built before

         12  1930. Our high schools operate at 124 percent of

         13  capacity on average, and we have seen enough crises

         14  and tragedies caused by the dilapidated state of our

         15  buildings to know that the financial needs are dire.

         16                 Every educational reform we make

         17  hinges on our ability to modernize our facilities

         18  and provide appropriate space for every child.

         19                 It used to be that only a fraction of

         20  our students were exposed to a college preparatory

         21  curriculum. Now all of our students have to have the

         22  knowledge, skills and flexibility to compete in the

         23  21st century work place.

         24                 We must make the kind of

         25  infrastructure investment that will prepare New York
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          2  City students in the same way as those in Nassau,

          3  Suffolk and Westchester Counties are being prepared.

          4                 We must rewire the schools to support

          5  the application of technology as a learning tool,

          6  and access to the 21st century economy. We must

          7  reduce classroom overcrowding in order to implement

          8  effect early literacy instruction, and we must

          9  rebuild laboratories to support our new rigorous

         10  science standards.

         11                 Our original capital plan has been

         12  cut from $11 billion to $7 billion. This cuts our

         13  vision of schools with a state-of-the-art technology

         14  and adequate science labs. This cuts our vision of a

         15  well-maintained watertight building. This cuts our

         16  vision of a chance to keep pace with growth and

         17  every child a seat, no matter where they live.

         18                 We have made significant progress in

         19  recent years.

         20                 Since 1990, we added 80,000 seats to

         21  the school system. We must continue to build on

         22  those efforts.

         23                 If we added $1 billion to the

         24  proposed $7 billion capital plan, we could build or

         25  rebuild science labs in all of our high schools. We
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          2  could add 41,000 new seats, 8,100 more than are

          3  proposed in the $7 billion plan.

          4                 We would be able to address more of

          5  the interior needs in our existing facilities such

          6  as replacing antiquated and obsolete systems, and we

          7  could fulfill our promise to bring technology to

          8  every high school at a ratio of six computers to

          9  every student.

         10                 In our original capital plan we have

         11  proposed a strategy of using our expense budget

         12  savings to contribute to this goal. While this

         13  approach is currently tabled, we have identified the

         14  first year's $150 million. Our plan for the

         15  following years are as specific as the outyear

         16  programs to eliminate the gap included in the past

         17  Mayoral financial plan.

         18                 I ask that you work with us and the

         19  Mayor to find a responsible way to incorporate an

         20  additional $1 billion into the plan.

         21                 I want to thank you very much for

         22  your past efforts to make capital funds available to

         23  New York City public schools. You have on more than

         24  one occasion come through for this system.

         25                 As elected officials of all of the
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          2  neighborhoods of New York City, you helped us to

          3  lobby for reform of the school construction process.

          4  Your support has always been important.

          5                 Our state building aid reimbursement

          6  rate has risen to 64 percent, and includes a

          7  much-needed regional cost factor. This

          8  accomplishment provides the foundation for our

          9  financing proposals, but further legislation is

         10  needed to leverage these new resources.

         11                 You can help us by pushing for

         12  legislative action on two fronts. First, to allow

         13  the City school system to securitize its established

         14  stream of state building aid reimbursement and to

         15  make it a downpayment on $400 million in overdue

         16  state claims.

         17                 Securitizing our building aid is a

         18  financially safe and prudent way of raising 2.3

         19  billion dollars more for immediate capital needs.

         20  The payment of the past claims would reduce state

         21  debt in a year of enormous and unanticipated state

         22  surpluses.

         23                 The commitment of an additional

         24  billion dollars to this plan and our capacity to

         25  securitize our stream of state building aid
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          2  reimbursement would bring the capital plan to nearly

          3  $10 billion. With that we could fulfill our vision

          4  of the schools and our students who deserve.

          5                 We could add a total of 61,000 seats,

          6  upgrade at least twice as many interior systems,

          7  accommodate early childhood and class size

          8  reductions, complete the full integration and use of

          9  our technology and restore gyms, fields and

         10  auditoriums to give children safe and adequate

         11  spaces to play and perform.

         12                 This strategy would also allow us to

         13  establish $15 million in additional funding for an

         14  asset management program to protect our new

         15  resources.

         16                 A $10 billion capital plan provides

         17  the kind of long-term planning and investment that

         18  this system needs.

         19                 Finally, I need your support in

         20  securing federal funds from the presidential and

         21  congressional initiatives for school facilities.

         22  These funds are critical to adding new capacity.

         23                 We also believe that there is support

         24  in several states, such as California, Florida and

         25  Texas, for federal legislation to fund those areas
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          2  most heavily impacted by new immigration. I hope you

          3  will support our exploration of this shared agenda.

          4                 We have a school system in crisis.

          5  The City and state have magnificent records of

          6  responding to threats to their vital infrastructure.

          7                 Could there be any greater sense of

          8  hopelessness than the public attitude toward the

          9  dirty, dangerous and deteriorating New York City

         10  subway system in the late seventies and early

         11  eighties. A $20 billion price tag must have looked

         12  like an insurmountable amount at that time. In the

         13  kind of partnership that I am now proposing, the

         14  State, the MTA and the City piece together a capital

         15  plan with the necessary long-term revenues to

         16  support the physical restoration of the system. No

         17  silver bullet was found.

         18                 Varied revenues and creative funding

         19  strategies were woven together to get the job done.

         20  Most importantly, this was not an ad hoc venture.

         21  The solution was tied to a long term plan of

         22  sufficient breath to meet the objective of restoring

         23  the system.

         24                 The key to that effort was a

         25  commitment to get this job done. But it also took
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          2  leadership, creativity and cooperation, and that is

          3  what I am asking of you.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you very much,

          6  Chancellor.

          7                 As you know, we are all limited to

          8  the amount of time that we can ask questions, so we

          9  will try and keep everything within two minutes.

         10                 There is a question I have, which

         11  seems to be the highlight of your testimony, is that

         12  number one, with state legislation, you would be

         13  able to increase the capital budget to the plan that

         14  you were planning, up to about $11 billion, then you

         15  could have this securitizing of assets; do I

         16  understand that correctly?

         17                 CHANCELLOR CREW: That is correct.

         18                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And that would

         19  require state action?

         20                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Yes, it would.

         21                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And you were up in

         22  Albany yesterday talking to them?

         23                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Was in Albany

         24  yesterday, met with members of the Black and Latino

         25  Caucus, I met with other members of the delegation
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          2  from New York both on the Senate and Assembly side,

          3  basically outlining what I needed in the way of

          4  specific support from the legislature in being able

          5  to provide for the securitization.

          6                 SPEAKER VALLONE I assure you we will

          7  follow that up.

          8                 This is a capital budget hearing, but

          9  the other question I have is on the expense side.

         10  You are talking about that you might be able to

         11  realize savings of $150 million in your own budget?

         12                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Yes. It was always

         13  our intent to actually look at ways by which we

         14  could make appropriate efficiencies and savings

         15  within our own expense budget for the purpose of

         16  being able to dedicate to this initiative.

         17                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I can assure you now

         18  that our staff will work very closely with your

         19  staff, and if we can realize that $150 million, we

         20  will do everything we can to make sure that goes to

         21  wherever the need is in the kids.

         22                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Thank you.

         23                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Two questions:

         24  Capital, state legislation; expense we can work out

         25  together.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            19

          1  BOARD OF EDUCATION

          2                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Yes.

          3                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I would just like

          5  to try to set some kind of order so that each

          6  Council Member will be in the position to raise

          7  their questions. I am going to request, after I

          8  raise a few questions to the Chancellor, that each

          9  Council Member please be ready with one question,

         10  and then we will move back around again for the

         11  second or third or whatever you have in mind.

         12                 But my first question -- maybe, you

         13  know, this is the first time that I have chaired a

         14  hearing without making an opening statement, and

         15  maybe it is because I have been led to say to all

         16  parties involved, including media or anyone who

         17  cares about the City of New York and its children, I

         18  am on the side of what is right for the children of

         19  this City, and I will do everything in my power to

         20  make sure that that is the direction I am going to

         21  go.

         22                 The children of this City should not

         23  be put in positions, it should not be compromised in

         24  any way about who is right and who is wrong, but

         25  rather what are you going to do for me to make sure
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          2  that I become a productive citizen of this City.

          3                 We have had long, hard discussions on

          4  budgets impacting on the City of New York. There are

          5  a lot of things that we like, dislike, however,

          6  there were times when we were not in agreement, but

          7  we trusted those in authority to do the right thing,

          8  and on the tone of trusting people in authority to

          9  do the right thing, this is in the spirit of this

         10  hearing, Mr. Chancellor, this morning. In the spirit

         11  for what is right for the children of this City is

         12  the direction I am going to go.

         13                 My first question to you, and I need

         14  not only -- you have explained it to me many times,

         15  but maybe you will do it in a different way.

         16                 Can you please explain to the

         17  Committee the difference between the 8.1 billion

         18  proposed five-year capital plan, and the 6.99

         19  billion revised plan. Specifically what projects

         20  will not be included. I don't want to debate, you

         21  know, that is theirs and this is mine; what specific

         22  projects will not be included in that 6.99 billion

         23  dollar plan?

         24                 CHANCELLOR CREW: The elements of the

         25  difference essentially go as follows. And I
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          2  mentioned some of this in my testimony this morning,

          3  let me just do it in thumbnail and let me be very

          4  precise in a moment.

          5                 Essentially when we built the larger

          6  number, we did so recognizing that there were not

          7  only needs that existed obviously for the repair of

          8  schools, many of which were very high priority

          9  items, things that had to do with leaky roofs and

         10  the repair and the finalization of the whole issue

         11  of getting rid of coal-burning furnaces, et cetera.

         12  But we also did so with an eye toward what we needed

         13  in new capacity to be able to respond to

         14  overcrowding in some of the boroughs, particularly

         15  in some of the most overcrowded boroughs, like

         16  Queens, but equally so in other boroughs throughout

         17  the entire city. And we also built the plan around

         18  what we assumed to be a specific measure or element

         19  of academic or standards driven needs that we knew

         20  we were going to have in virtue of the unmet needs

         21  of students who are currently either at risk or a

         22  lot likely able to meet the standards within the

         23  system.

         24                 So, all three categories: Repair, new

         25  seats and academic program profile, exactly the
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          2  level of the differences between the 6.9 number and

          3  ultimately the 8.1. And here is essentially where

          4  those differences manifest themselves.

          5                 In educational enhancements, the

          6  technology, the computers for students, the science

          7  lab funding would double basically in my plan as

          8  compared to the 6.9, the gym upgrades that we put at

          9  about 7.5 million dollars, auditorium upgrades,

         10  those are the places where you will see the

         11  difference between what I propose as opposed to what

         12  actually passed yesterday. So, again, in the

         13  educational sphere it is the technology, it is the

         14  science labs, it is the gym upgrades, it is the

         15  auditorium upgrades, those places where you will see

         16  the differences.

         17                 In terms of capacity, new capacity,

         18  the difference would be 41,000 new seats as opposed

         19  to 32,900 seats, which is reflected in the 6.99

         20  billion plan.

         21                 In terms of existing facilities,

         22  overall, about 30 percent increase in the funding to

         23  address interior systems, that's the difference, and

         24  at least about 50 percent increase in low voltage

         25  systems that really have to do with safety and
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          2  security issues, electrical infrastructure of

          3  schools that deal with safety and security.

          4                 And then the other difference in

          5  terms of existing facilities dealt with this ability

          6  to begin a whole real structured ongoing asset

          7  management plan, the likes of which the system

          8  really needs to be based on anyway.

          9                 The object here is to never allow

         10  this to happen to the schools again. So you need an

         11  asset management structure that sort of gets us out

         12  ahead of the curve for subsequent years of planning

         13  and subsequent years of developing of budget streams

         14  and meeting the needs of schools as they then come

         15  up in the cycle of interior needs, parapet fixing

         16  and repairing new capacities and so forth.

         17                 Part of the problem here, as you well

         18  know, we have been chasing this Jeanie. Part of the

         19  asset management need is to get ahead of it and to

         20  allow for planning and a strategic view of the

         21  system to actually be in place so that you no longer

         22  are ever sort of just chasing this thing, you now

         23  have it scheduled and put on a cycle.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Chancellor,

         25  assuming that OMB is correct and only 6.99 billion
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          2  is available, does the plan which was approved by

          3  the Board yesterday make the most sense in terms of

          4  utilizing the available resources? Or would you

          5  allocate the spending in a different manner?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: If there

          7  were only 6.99 available, which is not the case, we

          8  believe, we would actually -- we are concerned about

          9  the allocation between new capacity and the existing

         10  buildings. We believe the margin of safety in

         11  existing buildings is narrowed too much in their

         12  plan, and if we were operating from our own

         13  priorities I think would put modestly more to

         14  provide a better margin of safety in existing

         15  buildings and reduce therefore modestly the

         16  allocation for new capacity.

         17                 But the critical thing is, is by not

         18  counting available dollars, these kind of issues we

         19  pit against each other issues that need not be

         20  pitted against each other.

         21                 In an $8.1 billion plan we could

         22  achieve both better safety in buildings and more

         23  capacity.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Will this impact,

         25  Chancellor, on the academic part, especially those
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          2  new policies on social promotion and a regent

          3  requirement and technology initiative that you put

          4  in place, would this impact heavily in the area,

          5  especially the academic? You know, we know there are

          6  certain things that have to take place in order for

          7  children to graduate, will this impact heavily on

          8  those areas?

          9                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Yes. I cannot tell

         10  you how important it is that when we talk about a

         11  longer year for students, particularly for students

         12  who by virtue of not being at the standard now will

         13  need to ultimately go to summer school.

         14                 Summer school without air

         15  conditioning is madness. I mean, let's just be

         16  really honest. We have to talk about doing this in a

         17  humane and sane way, and summer school needs and

         18  summer school means air conditioning.

         19                 Secondly, I don't know any other way

         20  of being able to say this other than the fact that

         21  the science programs in New York City are so

         22  severely lacking, as to place in doubt any of our

         23  children's ability to actually have the necessary

         24  skills as a means of being able to complete the

         25  science program, let alone take and pass the science
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          2  regents exam, which they are now going to be

          3  required to do.

          4                 Science labs means passage of the

          5  science curriculum, it means passage of the science

          6  Regents exam. It is just that one to one.

          7                 Also, the need for technology. I have

          8  stressed before the Council many times in my

          9  presentations, and as I have talked around the City,

         10  we are at a point in time where what separates

         11  children who go to school in New York City from

         12  children who go to school in other surrounding

         13  technologically well grounded communities and

         14  schools, is the inability of New York City's

         15  children to ever or at least while they are in

         16  school, use the Internet as a means by which to

         17  delve into countless other domains of learning that

         18  are going to be used and needed to finish out and

         19  complete tests that they will take not only in the

         20  Regents exam, but as they then think about moving

         21  into college, as they think about sending resumes

         22  into the work place, as they think about actually

         23  manifesting themselves as potential employees in the

         24  work place, the skill using technology is a skill

         25  that I think if we do not pay attention to through
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          2  this particular window of opportunity will actually

          3  give tacit approval to our kids going into the 21st

          4  century technologically illiterate.

          5                 So, it is very, very important, when

          6  you ask the question of what really takes the hit

          7  here, kids and their ability to use technology as a

          8  fundamental tool for learning in the 21st century

          9  takes a hit. Science labs and the need for our

         10  children to have an appropriate inquiry-based lab

         11  science experience, the likes of which their

         12  teachers are now being trained on but do not have

         13  the lab facilities to make use of takes a hit. And

         14  clearly the overall issue of, and I haven't

         15  mentioned this yet, but I think it is very, very

         16  powerful, an awful lot of people have sort of, as we

         17  have talked about a lot of ways by which to save

         18  kids lives, I think athletics does just that, and we

         19  need to really pay attention to the fact that there

         20  are lots of young mean and women in this City, many

         21  of whom have been on statewide and nationwide

         22  championship teams, who have played on some of the

         23  most abysmal places that we have the audacity to

         24  call fields ever known to person kind, and we really

         25  need to attend to that issue, because in this
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          2  capital plan, the $7 billion capital plan, that

          3  takes a hit. We had intended to actually upgrade

          4  facilities, upgrade gyms, upgrade and modernize the

          5  fields that our youngsters play on, such that they

          6  would be able to actually be more competitive and in

          7  many cases have more opportunities comparable to

          8  what other kids do in other cities.

          9                 So, those are the areas where I can

         10  tell you programmatically, in terms of the

         11  day-to-day life of a child in school, those are the

         12  places that take a hit.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I dare say that

         14  this is the most difficult Committee hearing that I

         15  have ever been a part of. I have a light that is

         16  going to go on and I may not ask all of the

         17  questions in behalf of, but we have to get some

         18  answers here if we are going to pass the budget so

         19  we don't get caught up. And I am going to move right

         20  into what I should have moved in, you know, 15 or 20

         21  minutes ago.

         22                 I am going to let the next colleague

         23  speak. I am going to also request that you make your

         24  points very precise and I am going to ask for

         25  answers as quickly as you can.
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          2                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Yes. Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN:  I just have to

          4  get myself together a moment.

          5                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Okay.

          6                 Council Member Linares.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you,

          8  Madame Chair.

          9                 Chancellor, there have been many

         10  rumors going around in recent days in terms of your

         11  tenure, and I wanted just for the record to say to

         12  you, stay on course and stand up with the plans that

         13  you have for reform for the system, stand up for the

         14  children, and I assure you that you have with you

         15  all New Yorkers, we really want the public school

         16  system to succeed for all of our children, no matter

         17  which borough they find themselves.

         18                 There is something quite disturbing

         19  to me and to many with the plan that was approved

         20  yesterday, because it seems to me that the proposal

         21  you presented is reflective of the needs where they

         22  are the greatest, where you find the greatest

         23  concentration of students that are with the greatest

         24  need in terms of improvement and where they are

         25  concentrated. It is disturbing because where those
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          2  children are, we also have the most deteriorating

          3  schools in the system, and it is a calamity that the

          4  way this new plan was imposed undermines precisely

          5  what the approach is to address those in most need

          6  and to really address the disturbing conditions that

          7  the schools are, especially if we want to equip

          8  them, as you indicated with the type of technology

          9  and safe environment, especially if we want to use

         10  them after 3:00 where they are needed to extend

         11  instruction for those children if we want to go into

         12  the summer.

         13                 So, my question is, how do you

         14  reconcile the shifting of resources from what I

         15  perceive to be the areas of greatest needs based on

         16  performance of students and the needs that they

         17  have, especially in boroughs like the Bronx, like

         18  Manhattan, like Brooklyn, and shifting some of those

         19  resources to Staten Island and Queens?

         20                 I mean, I am speaking about what i

         21  interpret to be the difference between the plan that

         22  you represented with input from superintendents,

         23  from teachers, from parents and from the reality

         24  that you assess with experts on the needs, physical

         25  needs of where the greatest concentration of
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          2  children in need of health are. That is the question

          3  that I am asking, because it is quite disturbing to

          4  me.

          5                 CHANCELLOR CREW: The point of

          6  convergence of the 8.1 billion dollar plan, the

          7  point of convergence, was a place where the interest

          8  and the needs of the facilities met the interests

          9  and the needs of the program.

         10                 The 8.1 billion dollar envelope

         11  essentially respected both. It said essentially that

         12  we need to have existing facilities repaired and

         13  modernized. It also said we need to have more

         14  capacity built within each of the boroughs, and it

         15  also said we don't need to fight about who needs

         16  what, because everybody needs a substantial amount,

         17  far more than even this plan calls for.

         18                 But it merged those particular

         19  elements together with what we knew the data was

         20  beginning to actually show us around where are the

         21  programmatic deficits the largest? Where are we

         22  seeing the achievement gaps the largest, where are

         23  when we talk about the end of social promotion,

         24  where are we seeing schools and communities and

         25  neighborhoods where in addition to having facility
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          2  needs and overcrowding problems, they also have an

          3  actual achievement gap as well.

          4                 Our desire was to converge or merge

          5  both of those sets of interests so that the envelope

          6  of funded attended to both sets of concerns.

          7                 We are not able to do that, unless

          8  and until we do exactly what I talked about relative

          9  to securitization. And yesterday, as I met with

         10  members in the Assembly and the Senate in Albany, I

         11  was very, very clear, I hope, on the issue of this

         12  isn't about goring somebody else's ox, this isn't

         13  about taking from someone, this is about building a

         14  bigger financial envelope to actually afford us the

         15  opportunity to respond to the capital and

         16  infrastructural needs that we have, but also the

         17  needs that I have programmatically that will become

         18  more and more evident, as you see the list of SURR

         19  schools that I intend to take over, they will be

         20  predominantly in some of the boroughs you just

         21  identified, sir.

         22                 As you see the numbers of children

         23  who are at risk of not meeting the standards in

         24  grade three, seven and eight and we now remand them

         25  to a mandatory summer school program, you will see
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          2  that those are going to be in boroughs, such as the

          3  ones that you identified, and in buildings that will

          4  not at this point in time, or do not have air

          5  conditioning. And so the desire here was to actually

          6  take a good look at the programmatic side and the

          7  facility side, merge them and come up with a number,

          8  a figure, that could be respectful of the entirety

          9  of that need without being so large and so

         10  insurmountable as to be unfundable.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I appreciate

         12  your response.

         13                 What would you say is the total --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: One question. One

         15  question, please.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: What would

         17  you say is the total that we actually and

         18  realistically need for the system in order to bring

         19  it to par, to make it safe and prepare?

         20                 CHANCELLOR CREW: The number I

         21  submitted as part of my original recommendation is

         22  that number. I am moving those toward an 11 billion

         23  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Excuse me,

         25  Chancellor, I had asked this Council member to ask
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          2  one question, and I am going to have to ask you to

          3  please help me adhere to that.

          4                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Yes, Ma'am.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

          6  Linares, we will come back to you on the second

          7  round.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you,

          9  Madame Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         11  Nelson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you,

         13  Madame Chair.

         14                 Welcome, Dr. Crew.

         15                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Thank you, sir.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: It appears

         17  that obviously we have a car that needs to go about

         18  100 miles, we only have for gas about 30 or 40 or

         19  maybe up to 70 or 80 miles at most. I don't know if

         20  Bette Midler is able to help us in this, or maybe

         21  you need Bill Gates, but surely Albany.

         22                 My question is basically replacing

         23  the aging coal-fired furnaces. The City's, the

         24  public schools continue to be a primary concern to

         25  parents, health officials and this Council and I am
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          2  sure yourself. Replacements for 124 coal-fired

          3  boilers have already been funded, and these projects

          4  are underway in various phases, what is the status

          5  right now of the 124 conversion projects that have

          6  been funded, and will the schools have the new

          7  heating system in place for the next heating season?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: There are a

          9  total of 155 plants, coal-fired plants, that are

         10  currently funded for conversion, leaving 124

         11  unfunded.

         12                 At the moment, though, the new plan,

         13  the new five-year plan in any version we have been

         14  absolutely committed to retaining the coal-fire

         15  furnace conversion. So, the adoption of any of these

         16  plans will complete the funding of the conversions

         17  of coal-fired plans.

         18                 So, between state money, plus money

         19  included that the Council has authorized, we will be

         20  able to achieve, and the dollars authorized in the

         21  first year of any of these plans, we will be able to

         22  achieve a completion of conversion of all plans over

         23  the next two years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Oh, within two

         25  years, okay.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Roughly two

          3  years.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Our

          6  intention is to put out with the SCA, in cooperation

          7  with the SCA, is to put out several contracts to

          8  complete the remaining conversions within the next

          9  couple of years.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         11                 Thank you, Madame Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         13  Koslowitz.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         15  Madame Chair.

         16                 I really feel compelled to say that

         17  of course I like the new plan.

         18                 I would like to also say to my

         19  colleague that I think people should learn more

         20  about Queens. They have a misconception of what

         21  Queens is really like.

         22                 Queens is a very overcrowded borough,

         23  with a very, very large immigration population,

         24  growing every single day. I know being on this

         25  Committee I have gone to schools in Brooklyn and I
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          2  have gone to schools in Manhattan, in the Bronx,

          3  they are no different than the schools in Queens.

          4  The difference is that we have one of the largest

          5  overcrowded, not one of the, the largest overcrowded

          6  districts, District 24, in the entire City of New

          7  York. We have schools that speak 89 different

          8  languages. Queens needs the seats. Our children have

          9  to have a seat to learn, and they have to keep

         10  having a seat to learn.

         11                 I feel that whatever monies are

         12  needed, the state should let go of the monies that

         13  are owed to the City and if the City has to put more

         14  money into education, I think that is important. But

         15  make no mistake, Queens absolutely needs those seats

         16  and they need more seats. And we were getting the

         17  least amount of the pie in the whole spectrum of

         18  everything. So, please leave Queens alone, we need

         19  our seats.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         22  Pinkett.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: It is nice to

         24  see you.

         25                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Thank you.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            38

          1  BOARD OF EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I know you

          3  feel good being in this building, but I wouldn't be

          4  in your shoes for anything this week.

          5                 Let me just say this, I am not going

          6  to ask you about how you would do this, because

          7  obviously how you would do all of the things that we

          8  would ask you depends upon how you would reshape

          9  your budget after the cut, compared to what you had

         10  projected that you could do with the monies that you

         11  had planned for in the beginning.

         12                 I would simply say to you, and I

         13  really will just say this to you, I regard the young

         14  people of this City as the most important asset we

         15  have in this City. I don't think anyone should play

         16  with this City, and it is not Queens, it is not

         17  Brooklyn, it is not Staten Island, it is not the

         18  Bronx or Manhattan, it happens to be the future of

         19  this City and of this country, as a whole that we

         20  are dealing with.

         21                 I further believe, I further believe

         22  that what we do with the education of young people

         23  can either elevate their opportunity or triple them

         24  for life. Because we make a great deal about whether

         25  they have science and math and then we cut from
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          2  budgets the ability of providing those resources and

          3  opportunities for them.

          4                 If we want to have a second

          5  reconstruction, we can say that I don't want that,

          6  don't plan to go there. So, I just want you to know

          7  that we are in it for the long haul, and the long

          8  haul is that public education has to survive, not

          9  just wither on the vine, but when it survives it has

         10  got to be viable, it has got to be good, and you

         11  forgot to say music and art. Please don't ever leave

         12  out music and art as being important for youngsters

         13  in our school system, it is very, very important.

         14  And I know when they said they must compete against

         15  schools that do not provide any of those things,

         16  they are not talking real. They are not talking

         17  real. I want our kids, no matter who they are, no

         18  matter what borough they are, no matter what school

         19  system they are in, to survive and to succeed, but I

         20  want this system which does well to succeed. And I

         21  have said it before, until you start blowing your

         22  horn and telling what is happening. I have the

         23  question that is always asked, are we ready for the

         24  year 2000? Is everyone on the computer? Is it

         25  prepared? But no one asks about the school system,
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          2  all of our technical schools at the same level, are

          3  they prepared? Are they prepared for the Year 2000,

          4  because they are the ones who are going to walk the

          5  walk through that new century and we are not

          6  preparing them and we are asking the question as if

          7  we are going to be here forever, and I hate to

          8  remind you, we are not but they will be.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         11  Carrion.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,

         13  Madame Chair, and good morning, Chancellor.

         14                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Good morning.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Since the

         16  chair asked us to ask one question, I prepared a

         17  12-part question.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: It won't work.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Just a little

         20  levity.

         21                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Could you do a

         22  little bit more?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: We need all

         24  of it, we need as much as we can get.

         25                 Unfortunately we live in a time when
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          2  we have become accustomed to soundbites and I wish

          3  that we could peel off a lot more layers and that

          4  more of the public could understand what we are

          5  discussing here, because I think as a City we are a

          6  victim of that soundbite culture, and unfortunately

          7  the difference between the 11 billion and 6.9

          8  billion is lost to the general populous, and that is

          9  very unfortunate, that is one of the tragedies. But

         10  that is not my point.

         11                 I was looking at the projected total

         12  need in terms of seats, and then I was going down

         13  this table that was provided for us by our very

         14  competent staff, where we had a table where the need

         15  is attempted to be answered in the different plans,

         16  the 11.2 billion dollar response, the 8.1 billion

         17  dollar response and the 7 billion dollar response.

         18                 And I am looking at I think what

         19  should underlie all of our public debate about

         20  anything is fairness; are we doing the right thing

         21  for people, and in this case our most important

         22  asset, as Council Member Pinkett suggested, which is

         23  our children. And I see that the need in Manhattan,

         24  the projected need for seats were 6,600

         25  approximately, in the Bronx 14,100, in Brooklyn
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          2  13,600, Queens almost 54,000 which is monumental, of

          3  course, and Staten Island about 1,400, 1,450. And if

          4  we just race down to what the $7 billion response

          5  is, I think the question of fairness gets begged and

          6  I am looking across the Board and what I want to ask

          7  you is to address this in terms of are we really

          8  answering this fairly? And without pointing the

          9  finger at any borough, I see that there is one

         10  response that is almost 100 percent, and if you add

         11  all of the other layers of complications of

         12  socioeconomics and propensity for success, based on

         13  socioeconomic conditions, and you impose that on

         14  your analysis of the response. I would suggest to

         15  all well-intentioned people, and people who think,

         16  try to think clearly, that this is not a fair

         17  response to the need. That is one of many questions

         18  I have for you, Chancellor.

         19                 Thank you, Sir.

         20                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Let me just try to

         21  be very brief.

         22                 I don't think we are going to get any

         23  place if the number stays so small that we

         24  essentially quibble over what portion of an already

         25  too small pie do we get. That is not going to be the
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          2  issue.

          3                 Even if you wanted to argue about the

          4  apportionment factor and the ratio of need and so on

          5  and so forth, I don't think that is the point. I

          6  think the point is that the initial cut, the initial

          7  amount of money available to begin the process at

          8  this extraordinary time where standards are being

          9  raised, where the needs of the infrastructure are

         10  now more clearly and almost clinically being

         11  displayed before all of New York, I think the real

         12  issue is what is the appropriate amount of money,

         13  the beachhead of funding, to actually begin

         14  responding to this, and I tried to craft a plan that

         15  essentially was large enough in the envelope of

         16  financial resources, it was large enough in actual

         17  capital dollars to be able to speak to who what I

         18  knew to be the size of this need and the growing

         19  nature and the exponential growth of the need.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: And in your

         21  mind realistic.

         22                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Realistically, that

         23  is why I am asking to get back up to at least the

         24  8.1 number because we have really got to at least be

         25  talking about a larger pie. This isn't a question of
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          2  who gets what within the pie.

          3                 I mean I really do understand what

          4  the Councilwoman from Queens was saying. I mean, by

          5  every understanding of the data, Queens has an

          6  extraordinary problem and one that will continue in

          7  the outyears. Bronx has an extraordinary problem,

          8  and one that is very present now and will continue

          9  in the outyears.

         10                 Basically if you look at the

         11  statistics overall, that begins to subside in some

         12  of the other districts, or at least level out.

         13                 So, the question isn't what is the

         14  apportionment, or the proportion of money, the real

         15  question is, is this a big enough portion of money

         16  overall to begin having a realistic conversation on

         17  the size and the dimension of this problem and I

         18  think not. I think we have got to be looking at

         19  creating a bigger envelope of capital resources.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: But given

         21  what we have, this question is still begged. I mean,

         22  we still go back to that amount.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I think I said

         24  one question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Yes, it is
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          2  the same question, Ma'am. But I will defer to the

          3  Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: But there cannot

          5  be a dialogue, there has got to be some kind of

          6  order here.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: I will

          8  respectfully defer to the Chair, Madame.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         10  Boyland.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you,

         12  Madame Chair.

         13                 Welcome, Chancellor Crew.

         14                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Thank you very much.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: As I looked

         16  through your proposed five-year capital plan, and I

         17  am looking at the 11 billion based on, downrated to

         18  the 7.5 billion, or as I see written, 6.9 billion, I

         19  see some major reduction in asbestos abatement from

         20  93 million to 61 million, emergency lighting from 37

         21  million to 30 million, security system from 86

         22  million to 42 million and so on. As I look at it,

         23  something that hits me majorly is the technology and

         24  the school labs reduction that you spoke of earlier,

         25  from I guess the proposed $1 billion down to $300
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          2  million; am I correct on that? When I look at these

          3  numbers, I ask myself, first, how will our children

          4  remain competitive in a society that is going to

          5  move forward where they are going to be held behind,

          6  and how does Project Smart School and

          7  computerization and the wiring and the existing

          8  wiring of the older schools, not the new schools,

          9  compare to this in terms of where Brooklyn lies in

         10  this?

         11                 I know we have worked back and forth

         12  --

         13                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: -- On my

         15  district in terms of the need for schools, the need

         16  for computerization, the need for the wirings, but

         17  as a whole we are really, Brooklyn may be falling

         18  way, way short of the need that they have and that

         19  is of no offense nor avail to what Queens is going

         20  through at the moment, but we are part of the same,

         21  as you call it, cutting up the major pie, we are a

         22  part of that, and I just would like to have some

         23  response on the computerization cuts.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I can

         25  provide some detail on the computerization cuts.
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          2  Going from a billion to 300 million, let me first

          3  say that 300 million I think is optimistic. It is

          4  300 million in federal funds under what is called

          5  the ERAVE program, it can only be used for wiring

          6  and infrastructure, not for computer work stations.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: This is not

          8  software and hardware included in this?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: No, this is

         10  just wiring, this is just computer wiring for local

         11  area networks, wide area networks and the like, and,

         12  frankly, in order to be eligible for that federal

         13  funding you have to show that you will have to be

         14  able to connect those networks to work stations, and

         15  at present there are not a single dollar for a

         16  single computer or software in the capital plan. So

         17  there is no way to demonstrate to the federal

         18  government that the 150 million we had hoped to get

         19  for wiring can then be connected to computers, but I

         20  think the likelihood of our getting 300 million is

         21  very much in question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: All right.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: So, in

         24  fact, we are closer --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: This puts us
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          2  behind.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: This puts

          4  us further behind.

          5                 A total of 146,000 work stations were

          6  eliminated as we went from the billion dollar plan

          7  to the $300 million plan. Had we been with the full

          8  scale, we would have been able to provide computers

          9  from fourth grade through 12th grade in every

         10  classroom at ratios that meet the national standards

         11  for computers, all of that is now gone, totally.

         12                 In the 8.1 billion plan, we at least

         13  would have been able to provide the full number of

         14  high school computers, so for all boroughs. High

         15  schools in all boroughs would have received their

         16  full complement of computers so that even though we

         17  lost fourth and fifth grades, we would have high

         18  school computers in place, instead at the 6.9

         19  billion plan, nothing, no computers of any kind.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: This isn't

         21  good.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         23  Rodriguez.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you,

         25  Madame Chair.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            49

          1  BOARD OF EDUCATION

          2                 Welcome, Mr. Chancellor.

          3                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Thank you, sir.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: It appears

          5  to me that the $1 billion difference between the $7

          6  billion budget and the $8 billion budget is really

          7  only an accounting for the revenue that there is a

          8  discrepancy between what you think the revenue will

          9  be and OMB thinks what the revenue will be? And if

         10  that is accurate, if my assumption is correct; is

         11  that correct?

         12                 CHANCELLOR CREW: That is basically

         13  true.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Okay. If

         15  that is correct, then they're claiming that the $1

         16  billion that you are asking us for is not there, you

         17  are suggesting that it may be there. History has

         18  shown that OMB has historically underreported

         19  revenue at least at our end of the budget, so I

         20  assume the same thing is going to happen there.

         21                 Can you please just tell us the

         22  differences between your opinion of where this

         23  billion will come from and their opinion of where it

         24  will come from? And that is a two-part question, but

         25  it is still one question.
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          2                 That is part A, and then B is, did

          3  OMB ever reach out to you and say, you know, we

          4  think you are wrong, and if they did, did the

          5  dialogue go on? Did the negotiations go on to your

          6  satisfaction?

          7                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Well, I think it is

          8  fair to say that the conversations about this early

          9  on, and I mentioned this in my testimony this

         10  morning, the conversations about this issue early on

         11  were conversations that focused on sort of the

         12  reliability and the sense of the accuracy and

         13  portraying revenue streams that were likely to

         14  becoming and how much at least I believed they were

         15  going to be coming versus how much OMB believed they

         16  were going to be coming.

         17                 We think, for example, that the

         18  building aid dollars are going to be coming. I mean,

         19  there is nothing on the horizon that I am aware of

         20  to suggest that somehow the building aid stream is

         21  going to somehow falter and not come to New York

         22  City any longer.

         23                 Moreover, if anything it will go up

         24  exponentially because of the adjustment factors that

         25  have been built into the money.
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          2                 With respect to the amount of money

          3  that we have put in, the 700 and plus, 750 million

          4  that we have indicated an interest in putting in,

          5  that amount of money is actually, at least the first

          6  couple of years of that money in terms of the trade

          7  off and reductions in dollars in the expense budget,

          8  we believe we can flatten our system, come up with

          9  savings and actually dedicate those savings in an

         10  annualized way to this extraordinary capital need

         11  plan.

         12                 So, if you add the money that we

         13  intended to accrue from our own savings, together

         14  with what we believe to be an ongoing, I believe

         15  predictable amount of money coming from the state

         16  building aid formula, that amount of money is

         17  exactly the heart of your question, and I don't see

         18  a problem.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         21  Perkins.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

         23  Madame Chair.

         24                 Welcome, Mr. Chancellor.

         25                 Let me first express my deep
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          2  appreciation for the visionary leadership that you

          3  have been providing in the system, especially right

          4  through here in perhaps the most challenging time,

          5  and let me just also especially commend you for the

          6  role model that you have been representing to our

          7  children during this period, particularly in terms

          8  of mediation conflict.

          9                 You know, a lot of our children are

         10  raised to hit back, and then they go to school and

         11  the teacher tells them we don't do that here. And so

         12  we tell them to focus on what really is your

         13  purpose, in their case education, and by the same

         14  token so is that with you, and so I want to commend

         15  you for representing that to them as an adult, which

         16  many of us need to somehow replicate.

         17                 You mentioned a very intriguing idea

         18  that I think we should be focusing on, particularly

         19  with the idea of the MTA, and how we were able to

         20  turn that around and make it into a system that is

         21  beginning to be complemented throughout the country.

         22  I think that that is a model that we could use here.

         23  Unfortunately the partnership cannot work or did not

         24  work with a governor that was making, breaking

         25  campaign promises no sooner than elected,
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          2  particularly as it relates to funding for the

          3  system, or a Mayor that talks about blowing up the

          4  system.

          5                 So, I don't expect you to respond to

          6  that, but what I do hope you could do is to share

          7  with us what that number would be and how that kind

          8  of leadership could come about? Do we need to have a

          9  summit? Is it $20 billion, is it $100 billion vision

         10  that you have? Maybe you could elaborate a little

         11  bit more for us in terms of how we can create that

         12  partnership and what that partnership should be

         13  focusing on in terms of dollars?

         14                 CHANCELLOR CREW: That is a very, very

         15  heady and important question, because I think part

         16  of what we have got to do is stop the sort of cycle

         17  of what I think of this as sort of knee-jerk

         18  financial planning, built out of hope and dreams and

         19  aspirations of, you know, sort of political moments,

         20  and actually put this on the same kind of a multiple

         21  year funding strategy formula, the likes of which

         22  you would build out any corporation or any business

         23  enterprise. This is not going to be easily done

         24  unless sane and civil tongues abide by the notion,

         25  by the same sort of principles of good planning and
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          2  good forecasting that in fact have actually

          3  underwritten some of our most successful

          4  corporations in our nation.

          5                 So, I look at the opportunity that

          6  really is presented before us now, for people who

          7  are essentially in the line of work that you are in,

          8  and many of you know this far more intimately,

          9  frankly, than some of us, and many of you having

         10  gone to school here, et cetera.  But to call upon

         11  people in Albany, to call upon people here in New

         12  York City to finally use this as an opportunity,

         13  somewhat crisis as it may be, but to use this as an

         14  opportunity, as an all call for all of New York to

         15  rally around a strategic message, both now and

         16  futuristically, and a strategic plan, both

         17  financially fundable now and building out in the out

         18  years, for the program and facility needs of the

         19  children of the City of New York, one won't do.

         20  Fixing the schools and having no air conditioning,

         21  or fixing the schools and having no real summer

         22  school programs, or fixing schools and then still

         23  allowing 80, 90, whatever number of SURR schools we

         24  have to exist as a part of our envelope, is

         25  insufficient.
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          2                 So we have really got to actually

          3  say, I am here to say today to you and to all of New

          4  York City, that this is the moment where at the

          5  precipice we can either look at our demise of our

          6  educational system or look at the future in creating

          7  it anew. And this envelope difference of the 6.9 to

          8  the 8.1 will tell me a lot about whether or not we

          9  are actually sort of just presiding over the demise

         10  of this system, or whether or not we have a courage

         11  and a creativity and a foresight to be able to move

         12  this in the direction of something that looks like

         13  you are actually building a real entity called the

         14  public school system that can in fact serve the

         15  needs of a million plus children.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         18  Fiala.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

         20  Madame Chair.

         21                 CHANCELLOR CREW: Madame Chair?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: If I am not

         23  looking at you right, it is because I can't turn in

         24  that direction. Except for this side, it is very

         25  difficult to have to know that not being able to
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          2  turn to look at people and being under pressure as

          3  to what I am trying to accomplish here.

          4                 I just want you to know you are

          5  excused, and I think you have -- what I would like

          6  to do is to submit some of the questions to you that

          7  I was not able to get answered.

          8                 Separate and aside, there are

          9  difficult kinds of things going on and we need

         10  answers in order for us to properly conduct

         11  ourselves in the budget negotiations, and they will

         12  be submitted to you and you can get pack. I had

         13  anticipated somebody picking up on it, moving ahead

         14  on some of these questions, but, however, they must

         15  be answered, and I would respectfully request that

         16  they be submitted to you for that kind of answer.

         17                 CHANCELLOR CREW: That would be very

         18  useful, and I would be more than happy to respond.

         19                 I am going to have to leave, however,

         20  both of my deputies will remain.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

         23  Madame Chair. Chancellor and Deputy Chancellors,

         24  thank you for coming today.

         25                 I know that in this chamber there are

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            57

          1  BOARD OF EDUCATION

          2  at least three or four different opinions as to how

          3  this Board of Education should be restructured. My

          4  opinion is well known, I am probably in the very,

          5  very small minority. I think that is healthy, and,

          6  yes, there are tensions, I think that is healthy. I

          7  think it is a testament to the commitment that this

          8  body has and all of you have toward trying to return

          9  the New York City Board of Education to its former

         10  standard of excellence. We all agree on the ends,

         11  which have a little difference of opinion on the

         12  means.

         13                 I want you to know, and I wanted the

         14  Chancellor to know, despite our differences on the

         15  structure and policy initiatives, I wish both he and

         16  all of you and others luck in reaching that end.

         17                 Having said that, my question has to

         18  do with the universal pre-K program. Were the needs

         19  for Universal Pre-K factored into the overall needs

         20  for seats in this City when this five-year plan was

         21  first put into effect and it was, 10.9 billion I

         22  believe was the figure, where is that now in this

         23  new plan?

         24                 How many new seats are going to be

         25  needed, and what percentage, what dollar value of
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          2  the new capital budget will be allocated toward

          3  meeting the needs of Universal Pre-K?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: The initial

          5  plan, the $11 billion plan, 10.9 as you say, was

          6  premised on being able to achieve all universal

          7  Pre-K but that was expected that the state would

          8  fund over the next period of five years, but doing

          9  so through a mix of using Pre-K seats in public

         10  schools and Pre-K seats in non-profit organizations.

         11                 And, as a matter of fact, because of

         12  the enormous demands for seats in a variety of parts

         13  of the City, it was the assumption in that plan that

         14  only 25 percent of the need for new Pre-K seats

         15  could be achieved in public schools, 75 percent

         16  would need to be achieved through non-profit

         17  organizations over the next five years.

         18                 The projected need Citywide, we have

         19  14,000 seats in place this current year from the

         20  first year of Pre-K, 30 percent of those were

         21  outsourced to -- that is were provided through the

         22  non-profit providers. Obviously we would have to

         23  continue to increase the proportion of non-profit

         24  providers providing seats.  So we presumed in our

         25  plan actually of the total, I guess, of about 36,000
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          2  seats that would be provided over the full period,

          3  just short of 9,000 would be provided in public

          4  schools, the 25 percent. It is about 36,000 total

          5  over the five-year period that we expected would be

          6  provided, if I am correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

          8  Deputy Chancellor.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         11  Clarke.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 I would just like, I am looking at

         15  the capital budget and the allocation, just before I

         16  left there was a detailed discussion on the

         17  allocation. I am a Brooklyn Council Member, and I

         18  understand the overcrowding in many neighborhoods, I

         19  could name District 22, District 18 and District 17,

         20  all of which is in that central hub, and with the

         21  reduction, including some of the City's oldest

         22  schools are in that neighborhood, many of which, all

         23  of which have braces around them right now, or

         24  skirts around them because of the condition in which

         25  they are. With this reduction of dollars for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            60

          1  BOARD OF EDUCATION

          2  Brooklyn, how do you intend to make up what is the

          3  plan in terms of capital dollars for the Borough of

          4  Brooklyn, because that is my greatest concern. It is

          5  as heavily impacted with new students as is any

          6  other borough that has a burdening amount of new

          7  students who are new to the school system itself,

          8  how do you intend to address those needs, and is the

          9  capital dollars that you have available going to

         10  fulfill that need?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Well, let

         12  me be clear. Under the 6.99 plan that the Board

         13  adopted yesterday, it is not possible to come

         14  anywhere near Brooklyn's need.

         15                 I also want to add that while we have

         16  talked about inequity issues in terms of the 6.99,

         17  all boroughs would benefit if this body worked with

         18  us to acknowledge the billion dollars more that is

         19  in fact available. Because under an 8.1 billion

         20  plan, Queens, for example, would gain 4,000 seats.

         21  So, by hearing very clearly the concern of the

         22  Queens member, let me be clear, an 8.1 billion

         23  dollar plan is a rising tide floats all boats, and

         24  while there may be some modest realignment in terms

         25  of the allocations for fairness purposes, which is
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          2  what we proposed to make sure it was all fair,

          3  everyone benefits from an 8.1 plan.

          4                 So, this is not about one plan

          5  proposing less, for one borough versus another, and

          6  another plan proposing more. The 6.9 billion plan

          7  produces cuts for every borough. And without the

          8  additional billion that could be recognized in an

          9  8.1 billion plan, both Brooklyn's needs for existing

         10  buildings, in terms of safety and stability of

         11  existing buildings, we believe would be seriously

         12  compromised, and Brooklyn's needs for seats are

         13  desperately compromised, Brooklyn actually gets cut

         14  by almost a third in the 6.9 billion plan.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And also, the

         16  issue --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         18  Clarke, I indicated it must be one question.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Oh, I will

         20  take my one question, and so that is my one

         21  question.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         24  Marshall.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you,
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          2  Madame Chair.

          3                 Deputy Chancellors, it is a pleasure

          4  to be here today with you and also I would like to

          5  add my compliment to Chancellor Crew, who I think

          6  out in the vineyards in the schools that we spent a

          7  lot of time in, we see clearly his mark. Things are

          8  changing and beginning to move and there is a

          9  feeling of optimism. I am from Queens, and needless

         10  to say, my district is one of the most overcrowded

         11  in the City, and so therefore I am very concerned

         12  about additional seats.

         13                 My concern, though, is the bottom

         14  line. Within the bottom line of 6.7 billion, I am

         15  very concerned. The last five-year plan it started

         16  off at 7.5 and it narrowed down to 2. something

         17  billion and I am concerned by us starting at the

         18  lower level, that we will sink even further.

         19                 I think it would be wiser if we

         20  started at a higher level so that we could cut back.

         21                 My question really could be sent in

         22  an answer to the Chairperson. I would like to know

         23  the direct impact on the SURR schools that will not

         24  have the computers that they need, the science labs

         25  that they need, and also SURR schools that have
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          2  large populations that need to expand with more

          3  classrooms, how will they be affected under this. I

          4  am interested in Queens certainly, but I am

          5  interested in Citywide, how is it going to match up.

          6                 As Chair of the Higher Education

          7  Committee, I am very concerned with those students

          8  who are in college now and preparing to go into

          9  college, and I would like to know how it will impact

         10  the seniors coming out of our, I think it is 17 high

         11  schools, how will it impact them without having the

         12  improper science labs and materials and other things

         13  that they need that would come out of the capital

         14  budget.

         15                 But that could be sent to the

         16  Chairperson and she in turn could get it to us.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: We are now moving

         19  briefly to the last round of questioning.

         20                 Council Member Rodriguez, you had

         21  indicated you had wanted the second round. Be brief.

         22  And as well as Council Member Pinkett.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you

         24  very much, Madame Chair.

         25                 I just want to go back to the billion
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          2  dollars for one second. You mentioned $750 million,

          3  or the Chancellor, that he can cut through the

          4  Expense Budget, and I would like for you to get as

          5  specific as you can on that number, because I

          6  suspect that what I am hearing from OMB is that it

          7  was fictitious and it didn't exist, so I want to

          8  make sure that it does exist, A.

          9                 And the second question is with

         10  regard to the amount of state aid, which is really

         11  what comes out to the $1 billion; can you tell us

         12  what the difference is between your number and their

         13  number (a); and (b), what were your projections

         14  based on? How did you come up with your number, as

         15  opposed to -- so they can say that number is not

         16  real? What is it that lead them to say that is not a

         17  real number? We need a real number because I suspect

         18  that if we can come up with $1 billion, we are in

         19  the ball park.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: That's

         21  correct.

         22                 In terms of the $750 million that we

         23  have put forward and that was accepted until about

         24  two weeks ago by OMB, that $750 million, $150

         25  million per year for a five-year period, is laid out
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          2  in terms of a seven categories of savings and

          3  surplus that we would provide to ensure that, over

          4  the five-year period. We have fully identified in

          5  detail all of the 150 million for the first year. In

          6  subsequent years we have indicated it would come

          7  from those categories, plus a forecast, a forecast,

          8  a precise year-by-year forecast surplus funds, a

          9  precise year-by-year revenue maximization

         10  initiative, showing each year what dollars would

         11  come from that, and a precise number targeted to

         12  productivity in centrally-managed budgets.

         13                 In short, we have provided a great

         14  deal of detail for this. Ironically the City now

         15  argues this is insufficient detail, although I

         16  simply want to point out that in the document

         17  presented to you in April, the City includes a

         18  two-line summary of $3 billion worth of savings to

         19  be achieved in outyears, and they provide two lines

         20  of detail.

         21                 We provided dramatically more detail

         22  in our plan that they have provided to you and to

         23  the citizens of the City concerning for them a $3

         24  billion, over $3 billion number.

         25                 So, with this, our plan exceeds
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          2  considerably what they, themselves, are putting

          3  forward to you at the very moment, this very moment

          4  in terms of savings.

          5                 In terms of the $787 million in

          6  building aid, the fundamental differences are, we

          7  proposed that in addition to the building aid that

          8  is currently available for buildings already built

          9  or in process, that we would also, and here we were

         10  very conservative, we also would count in building

         11  aid, the dollars that could be achieved only on the

         12  6.1 billion of City money that was being put

         13  forward. They said the 6.1 billion is the only safe

         14  money, we said fine, we won't count on any other

         15  money in calculating building aid. We will just

         16  assume it was only a $6.1 billion plan. There is

         17  still over the course of the years building aid

         18  generated. They have rejected everything except for

         19  the first and second years of that, and thereby

         20  rejecting the entire last three years and they have

         21  acknowledged 305 million instead of the 787 million

         22  that in fact will be generated during this period,

         23  only relying on their 6.1 billion. We are not

         24  relying on any other sources. It is a very

         25  conservative calculation. Very conservative
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          2  calculation of building aid.

          3                 Let me add building aid was increased

          4  two years ago by the Legislature and the Governor

          5  precisely in order to be able to do things like the

          6  securitization that we are proposing, to use

          7  building aid as a funding source for districts

          8  around the state for capital purposes. And

          9  historically building aid has been really the most

         10  stable and reliable source. It has never been cut.

         11  One of the reasons it hasn't been cut is, if the

         12  legislature were to cut it, it would drive a number

         13  of upstate communities and school systems into

         14  bankruptcy immediately, threatening the -- what's

         15  the word, fiscal security and the confidence, well,

         16  financial markets in New York. So, it isn't just New

         17  York

         18  City that will be affected, far from it, the entire

         19  state would be.

         20                 So there is absolutely no reason not

         21  to count building aid as a very secure source.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 Thank you, Madame Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member
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          2  Pinkett.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you,

          4  Madame Chair.

          5                 I don't know if you have had a chance

          6  to support the rally yesterday or the demonstration

          7  or you were caught in the crush of people who were

          8  trying to get out of 110 Livingston Street; however,

          9  there was one interesting thing, and it was caught

         10  on television camera, and it was repeated today on

         11  New York 1, and I hope you have a chance to hear it.

         12  But there was the president of the Construction

         13  Workers Union, who stated we want to see schools in

         14  good condition. We want children to learn. Did you

         15  see that?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I didn't,

         17  but I am glad to hear of it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay.

         19                 He said we so much want this to

         20  happen, we want School Construction and we want to

         21  work with them, we want to see this happen, that we

         22  will work on Saturdays and Sundays and the holidays

         23  and nights so that we will not interfere with the

         24  progress of schools. And we are even willing, now

         25  this to me for a union to say, to reduce our rate in
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          2  order to help this occur. And I think first you

          3  should send them a telegram of thanks, inscribe

          4  their names in the wall of Heaven and then find them

          5  and say do you really mean it? Because we need your

          6  help. And if that can happen it can make a

          7  tremendous difference in what happens in New York

          8  City schools.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: I would

         10  just add that these statements actually are the

         11  ground on which we have been in preliminary

         12  discussions with the building trades on what is

         13  called "a project agreement" that would seek to

         14  realize exactly those promises and those discussions

         15  are underway now.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Well, they

         17  were stated and I think you should follow up.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SPENCE: Absolutely.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: This concludes

         21  the capital hearing on Education.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 11:45 a.m.)

         23

         24

         25
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 13th day of May 1999.
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         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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